IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 86,034

ROBERT OISORIO,

Petitioner,

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, THIRD DISTRICT

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

WILLIAM P. CAGNEY, III William P. Cagney, III, P. A. Fla. Bar No. 146030 3400 First Union Financial Center 200 South Biscayne Boulevard Miami, Florida 33131-2393 (305) 371-1411

SCOTT A. SREBNICK

Fla. Bar No. 872910 1899 South Bayshore Drive Miami, Florida 33133 (305) 285-9019

Attorneys for Petitioner

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature Of The Case

Robert Oisorio (hereinafter "Oisorio") petitions the Florida Supreme Court to reverse the decision of the Third District Court of Appeal ("the Panel") in <u>State v. Oisorio</u>, 657 So.2d 4 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995), and reinstate the Order entered by Dade County Circuit Court Judge Thomas S. Wilson ("the trial court") vacating Oisorio's judgment of conviction and sentence under Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850. The trial court held that Oisorio's now-disbarred trial counsel, Stephen A. Glass, rendered constitutionally ineffective assistance under <u>Strickland v. Washington</u>, 466 U.S. 668 (1984), at Oisorio's trial on drug charges in July 1990.

The basis for the trial court's decision was twofold: 1) Glass actively refused to let Oisorio testify in his own defense; and 2) Glass failed to investigate and utilize the credible, exculpatory affidavit and testimony of a codefendant, and failed to move for a severance on that basis. The trial court also found that Oisorio had satisfied the prejudice prong of Strickland by demonstrating that the verdict was unreliable in light the exculpatory testimony that was never presented to the jury. (T:501). The trial court reached these conclusions after conducting a lengthy evidentiary

¹ <u>See The Florida Bar v. Glass (Stephen)</u>, 651 So.2d 1196 (Fla. 1995).

² References to the record in this Brief on the Merits will be as follows: The symbol "R" refers to the record on appeal. The symbol "T" refers to the transcript of the trial court proceedings on the Rule 3.850 motion. The symbol "ST" refers to the original trial transcript, which was filed as part of the record on appeal.

hearing. (T:64-478). The court assessed the credibility of the witnesses who testified at the hearing, and specifically found attorney Glass' testimony to be unworthy of belief. (T:495-500).

The Panel reversed the trial court's Order. The Panel concluded that Oisorio had failed to satisfy the prejudice prong of Strickland, reasoning that the evidence presented against Oisorio at his trial was so overwhelming that his "now-asserted defensive materials" could not have made a difference. Oisorio, 657 So.2d at 5. However, the Panel acknowledged, but declined to certify, that its standard for assessing prejudice conflicts with the standard applied by the Second District Court of Appeal in Gill v. State, 632 So.2d 660 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994). Oisorio, 657 So.2d at 6. This Court accepted jurisdiction to resolve the conflict between the districts and determine the appropriate standard for evaluating prejudice to a defendant from his counsel's refusal to let him testify. Oisorio is in custody.

Statement Of The Facts

The case against Oisorio arose out of a relatively simple reverse sting orchestrated by the Metro-Dade Police Department. On December 12, 1989, Detective Luis Fernandez placed a gym bag containing cocaine in a warehouse in Miami, Florida. (ST:120-30). A confidential informant working with Detective Fernandez contacted codefendants Guillermo Diaz and Francisco Quintana, and informed them that cocaine was being stored in the warehouse by a Colombian narco-trafficker. There was no evidence that defendant Robert Oisorio had any contact with the confidential informant, nor was

there any evidence that Oisorio was under investigation for narcotics-related activity. (ST:230-38, 275-80).

That night, Oisorio drove Diaz, Francisco Quintana, and Luis Quintana (Francisco's brother), to the warehouse in a Ford LTD leased in Oisorio's name. (ST:335-40). The warehouse was under videotape surveillance, and was surrounded by at least twenty police officers. (ST:130-35). Diaz and the two Quintana brothers got out of the car and, after Diaz pried open the warehouse with a crowbar, entered the warehouse. (ST:125-40). One of them removed the gym bag containing the cocaine from the warehouse and placed it in the trunk of the car. (ST:125-40). Oisorio did not enter the warehouse, did not carry any bags to the car, and did not see any bags. (ST:240-43).

Detective Fernandez had never heard of or seen Oisorio before that night. (ST:237). According to Detective Fernandez, Oisorio never got out of the car, (ST:129, 240), although another officer testified that he did. Oisorio's fingerprints were not found on any bags. (ST:241-43). As the car left the warehouse area, its path was blocked by the police. (ST:130-35). All four men were arrested and transported back to the police station. (ST:148-55). According to one officer, a handgun was recovered from the passenger seat of the vehicle. Furthermore, Detective Fernandez testified that he interrogated all four men individually, and that all four confessed orally to cocaine trafficking. (ST:151-90).

³ Only one defendant, Luis Quintana, was charged with possession of a firearm during the commission of a felony under Fla. Stat. 775.087, and was acquitted of that charge.

These oral statements were not witnessed or recorded, nor did any of the men sign a waiver of rights form. (ST:250-60).

Course Of Proceedings And Disposition Below

The State charged all four men with trafficking in over 400 grams of cocaine, in violation of Fla. Stat. §893.135. (R:1-4). Oisorio retained Glass for \$15,000. (T:85). At trial, the State played the videotape for the jury, and presented the testimony of the surveilling officers. (ST:107-315, 317-69, 370-98). The States also offered the testimony of Detective Fernandez that Oisorio (and the three others) had made oral inculpatory statements admitting guilt to cocaine trafficking. (ST:151-90). None of the defendants presented any evidence or testified in his own defense. (ST:400-11). On July 13, 1990, a jury found all four defendants quilty. (R:30-31). The trial court sentenced Oisorio to a mandatory term of fifteen years. (R:305). Oisorio appealed to the Third District Court of Appeal, which affirmed without an opinion. Oisorio v. State, 585 So.2d 942 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991).

On May 4, 1992, Oisorio filed a Motion for Post Conviction Relief pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850, and thereafter, amended the motion. (R:39-44; R:50-58). Oisorio alleged that Glass rendered constitutionally ineffective assistance of counsel at trial by: 1) actively refusing to allow Oisorio to testify; and 2) failing to move for a severance of Oisorio's trial based on an exculpatory affidavit signed by codefendant Guillermo Diaz. (R:42, 58). On December 9, 1992, the trial court granted an evidentiary hearing on the 3.850 motion. (T:50).

1. The Evidentiary Hearing

The evidentiary hearing commenced on February 12, 1993, and resumed on May 28, 1993. (T:64-478). The defense called Oisorio, offered the testimony of Laurie Beloff, Esq. (counsel for codefendant Francisco Quintana), and submitted affidavits of codefendant Guillermo Diaz and Oisorio's parents, Robert Oisorio, Sr., and Diana Oisorio. (R:321-324). When the State objected to the admissibility of Diaz's affidavit, the court called Diaz as a witness. The State called two witnesses: Glass and Ron Gainor, Esq. (Diaz's lawyer).

Oisorio testified that he did not know about the cocaine in the warehouse or his codefendants' plans to break into the warehouse. (T:141-51). Oisorio testified that, on the night of the arrest, he was intending to return his leased Ford LTD to the rental car agency because his company car (a Mitsubishi) had finally arrived. (T:144-50). Oisorio drove to the home of Luis Quintana, who had agreed to meet Oisorio at the rental car agency so that Oisorio would have a ride home after he returned the Ford LTD. (T:144-51). Before Oisorio left for the rental car agency, Francisco Quintana and Guillermo Diaz, who were at Luis' home, requested a ride to a warehouse near the rental agency to meet

⁴ Ms. Beloff testified by deposition pursuant to court order, because of her unavailability for the hearing. (R:92-95, 213-77).

⁵ Oisorio's counsel offered to take Diaz's testimony by deposition because Diaz, in prison in Arcadia, Florida, voiced his opposition to being transported to Miami (where he would lose gain time). Consistent with his search for truth, the trial court demanded to hear Diaz's live testimony so that he could observe Diaz's demeanor on the stand. (T:224-28).

someone. (T:144-51). Oisorio drove the two men to the warehouse in the Ford LTD, at which point Luis Quintana met up with them. (T:145-52). Oisorio never asked the codefendants who they needed to meet at the warehouse. (T:145-52). Oisorio testified that as the men got out of his car, he popped open the trunk of the car at their request, but he remained at the car and did not enter the warehouse. (T:130-50). Oisorio's testimony was corroborated by Diaz, who testified that Oisorio was never present when the breakin was discussed among the codefendants, and that he never said anything to Oisorio about the intended break-in. (T:256-79).

Oisorio testified that he did not confess to Detective Fernandez, and that Detective Fernandez's testimony was false. (T:95-99). Diaz also stated that he (Diaz) did not confess to Detective Fernandez. (T:254-56).

Oisorio testified that he repeatedly told Glass that he was innocent. (T:87). Laurie Beloff recalled that Glass believed Oisorio was "a dream defendant" who had no prior arrests. (R:220-25). By contrast, Glass testified that Oisorio admitted his guilt at their first attorney-client meeting. (T:360-61, 393, 470).

Glass acknowledged that he did not attend any depositions prior to trial, (T:417), but explained that he paid Ms. Beloff to cover for him. (T:331). Ms. Beloff contradicted Glass, stating that she had no agreement with Glass to cover the depositions for him. (R:218). Glass did not file any substantive pretrial motions and, in particular, did not file a written motion to suppress Oisorio's alleged oral statement. (T:377). Glass testified that he

did not think a motion to suppress "would fly" and he did not want to lose credibility with the court. (T:377-78). Glass did not explain why he sought to litigate an oral motion to suppress during the middle of the trial. (ST:157-83).

Oisorio testified that he told Glass that his codefendants could exculpate him and that Glass gave him an affidavit for his codefendants to sign. (T:87-88). This was corroborated by Ms. Beloff, who testified that she provided Glass with a form Byrd affidavit at his request, and discussed the affidavit with him. (R:225). Glass, by contrast, maintained that he never discussed a Byrd affidavit with Ms. Beloff and never gave Oisorio such an affidavit to take to his codefendants. (T:390).

Oisorio testified that he and his father brought the affidavit to codefendant Guillermo Diaz in the stockade, and a corrections officer translated the affidavit to Diaz, who signed it.⁶ (T:89-91). This testimony was verified by Diaz. (T:244). Diaz told Oisorio that he would testify for Oisorio to clear him of any wrongdoing. (T:156; R:211). Glass stated that Oisorio gave him the signed affidavit prior to trial, (T:362), and acknowledged the affidavit was exculpatory. (T:472). Glass admitted that he did not seek to confirm the veracity of the affidavit with Diaz's attorney, nor did he seek permission to speak with Diaz to determine what other exculpatory testimony Diaz could offer. (T:391-92). Glass explained that he knew the affidavit was false because Oisorio had

⁶ Although the original statement signed by Diaz was not notarized, (R:204), it will be referred to throughout as an "affidavit" for the sake of uniformity.

confessed to him. (T:391-93). Glass never informed Gainor, Diaz's lawyer, that he had obtained an affidavit from Diaz. (T:310).

Oisorio testified that he assumed Glass would know how to use the affidavit to help him, (T:156), and Glass acknowledged that Oisorio did not understand the legal significance of a <u>Byrd</u> affidavit. (T:392). Glass explained that he did not use the affidavit because Oisorio told him that its purpose was to prevent Diaz from "flipping" against Oisorio, and because Glass refused to suborn perjury. (T:364-66, 469, 472-73).

Oisorio testified that he repeatedly told Glass during the trial that he wanted to testify in his own defense, (T:99, 104), but that Glass told him that he "could not testify" and "was not allowed to testify." (T:116-17). Oisorio testified that he "was not an expert on the law," (T:118), and "was not aware whether I could or couldn't ... [a]ll I said to him was that I wanted to testify." (T:123). By contrast, Glass testified that Oisorio indicated "from day one" that he did not want to testify. (T:368-70, 456). Glass further testified that he was ethically constrained to advise Oisorio not to testify because Oisorio had confessed to him. (T:366-71). Glass did not explain why, on the first day of trial, he stood up before the trial court and stated: "While we're on that subject, though, I am contemplating my client taking the stand." (ST:9; T:383).

Oisorio testified that he and his parents huddled with Glass in the hallway during the recess after the State rested its case, and had a heated discussion, during which Oisorio again told Glass that he wanted to testify. (T:104). This incident was corroborated by the affidavits of Oisorio's parents. (R:321-324). Moreover, Ms. Beloff recalled the huddle in the hallway and remembered that Oisorio's parents were present, (R:248), as did Ron Gainor, who testified that he saw Glass, Oisorio, "and some other people" huddled together in the hall during the recess. (T:291). Glass denied that there was a heated discussion and denied that Oisorio's parents would have been present. (T:371, 455).

Oisorio testified that, during this discussion in the hallway, Glass poked his finger into Oisorio's chest, told him it was "too late" to testify, and threatened to walk away from the case. (T:104-06, 118). This was corroborated by the affidavits of Oisorio's parents and by Ms. Beloff, who recalled that Glass may have "put his fingers" to Oisorio's chest. (R:253). Glass denied poking Oisorio in the chest. (T:371).

Although Glass insisted that he was a "very ethical" lawyer, he admitted that he had borrowed \$7500 from a client, failed to repay the entire amount, and bounced a check in the process. (T:428-32). Glass also admitted that Roy Gelber, his former law partner, solicited kickbacks from him in exchange for court appointments when Gelber was a circuit court judge. (T:410-15). Glass admitted that he never reported this activity to the Florida Bar. (T:439-41). Glass also admitted that he had besmirched the names of Judge Milton Starkman and Judge Arthur Snyder. (T:438).

Glass was also confronted with more than ten (10) Florida Bar complaints that had been filed against him in less than two years.

(T:397-408). In at least three of his responses to those complaints, Glass' defense was that his client had confessed guilt — either to having engaged in a 200 kilogram cocaine deal, (T:400-01), to having stolen \$12 million worth of securities, (T:402), or to having purchased property with drug money. (T:403).

2. Disposition In The Lower Tribunals

After receiving all the evidence, the trial court took the case under advisement.⁷ On January 13, 1994, the trial court issued an Order vacating Oisorio's judgment of conviction, and incorporating findings announced in open court. (R:157; T:494-501). The trial court resolved the conflicting evidence in Oisorio's favor. The trial court specifically found that Oisorio wanted to take the stand in his own defense at trial, told Glass that he wanted to take the stand, and that Glass "refused to allow his client to testify." (T:497). The court emphatically rejected Glass' claim that Oisorio did not want to testify, and wrote that "I do not find Mr. Glasses' [sic] testimony credible." (T:498). The court found that there "was a fight in the hall with his family, contrary to what Mr. Glass testified to." (T:498). The court credited the testimony of Oisorio and his parents, which was corroborated by Laurie Beloff. (R:248-49).

⁷ On October 21, 1993, Oisorio moved the trial court to reopen the hearing based on new evidence that the State had misrepresented to the defense that Glass was not the target of a state criminal investigation at the time he testified <u>for the State</u>. (R:132-45). The State conceded that Glass may have been informed that he was a target of a criminal investigation prior to testifying. (R:148). The State also conceded that the evidentiary hearing should be reopened so that Oisorio could further explore Glass' bias. (R:146). The trial court did not reopen the hearing.

The trial court stated that "Glass did nothing with that Byrd affidavit. He didn't investigate it. He didn't try to talk to anybody about it. He did nothing." (T:497). The court noted that Glass failed to file a severance motion and "never even bothered to think about" filing such a motion. (T:497). The court rejected Glass' "my client confessed" excuse for not investigating the exculpatory testimony. (T:499-500). The court observed: "Sort of like crying wolf, he has used that defense far to [sic] often." (T:500). By contrast, the court credited the testimony of Guillermo Diaz, noting that if Glass had presented a mere presence defense (at a severed trial), "Mr. Diaz could have been called as a witness." (T:499).

Based on these factual findings, the trial court concluded that Glass' performance was constitutionally deficient under Strickland. The trial court also found that Oisorio established prejudice under Strickland. The court considered the material and exculpatory nature of Oisorio's testimony and Diaz's testimony. The court concluded that because Glass' errors prevented Oisorio from presenting this testimony to the jury, the reliability of this verdict was suspect. (R:501).

The court ordered Oisorio's release on bail pending his retrial. (T:487-92). The State appealed. (R:309). The Panel reversed, concluding as a matter of law that Oisorio failed to establish prejudice as a result of trial counsel's unprofessional

errors.⁸ The Panel revoked Oisorio's bail. Thereafter, Oisorio invoked the discretionary jurisdiction of this Court, and on October 11, 1995, this Court accepted jurisdiction.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Panel applied the wrong standard for assessing the prejudice to a defendant resulting from his trial counsel's deprivation of his right to testify. Although the Panel purported to apply a standard of prejudice consistent with Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687-88 (1984), the Panel failed to appreciate the inherent significance of a defendant's testimony and the unique importance of his decision to testify. When a defendant is deprived of his right to testify, prejudice to the defendant should either be presumed, see Gill v. State, 632 So.2d 660 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994), or be viewed as so substantial that only in the rarest of cases can the deprivation be considered harmless.

This case is not such a rare case. The only direct evidence of Oisorio's knowledge of the cocaine in the warehouse was the testimony of one officer that Oisorio made an oral, unrecorded, inculpatory statement. The circumstantial evidence -- Oisorio's association with the other three defendants at the scene and time of the break-in -- was equally consistent with mere presence and lack of knowledge. Glass' failure to permit Oisorio to testify

⁸ Although the Panel indicated that it was also doubtful that Oisorio had satisfied the first prong of <u>Strickland</u>, the Panel did not, nor could it, set aside the trial court's well-grounded factual finding that Glass actively refused to allow Oisorio to testify. <u>State v. Garcia</u>, 431 So.2d 651 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983) ("[D]eterminations concerning questions of fact must be accepted by appellate courts if the record supports the findings.").

about his state of mind — that he was unaware of his codefendants' plans to steal cocaine from the warehouse — and about Detective Fernandez's lie, undermines confidence in the reliability of the jury's verdict. Moreover, by also depriving Oisorio of the ability to present the testimony of codefendant Diaz at a severed trial, trial counsel committed another unprofessional error that, viewed together, <u>cumulatively</u> rendered the verdict unjust. <u>Kyles v. Whitley</u>, _____, U.S. _____, 115 S.Ct. 1555 (1995).

ARGUMENT

THE THIRD DISTRICT ERRED IN CONCLUDING THAT DEFENDANT ROBERT OISORIO WAS NOT PREJUDICED BY HIS TRIAL COUNSEL'S ACTIVE REFUSAL TO ALLOW HIM TO TESTIFY

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