# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 86,034

**ROBERT OISORIO**,

Petitioner,

FILED SID J. WHITE DEC 26 1995 CLERK. ₿y\_ Chief D

-vs-

### THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

# ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, THIRD DISTRICT

## **RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS**

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

JONI BRAUNSTEIN Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar Number 0509957 Office of the Attorney General Department of Legal Affairs 401 N.W. 2nd Ave., Suite N921 P.O. Box 013241 Miami, Florida 33101 (305) 377-5441 Fax 377-5655

#

QUESTION PRESENTED
UMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT 24
<b>RGUMENT</b>
ONCLUSION
ERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

# TABLE OF CITATIONS

<u>Adams v. Wainwright,</u> 709 F. 2d 1443 (1983)
<u>Atkins v. Singletary,</u> 965 F. 2d 952 (11th Cir. 1992)
<u>Blanco v. Wainwright,</u> 507 So. 2d 1377 (Fla. 1987) 32
<u>Gill v. State,</u> 632 So. 2d 660 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1994)
<u>Nichols v. Butler,</u> 953 F. 2d 1550 (11th Cir. 1992)
<u>Qisorio v. State,</u> 585 So. 2d 942 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1991)
<u>Peek v. State,</u> 488 So. 2d 52 (Fla. 1986)
<u>Rahme v. State,</u> 474 So. 2d 1236 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985)
<u>State v. Flynn,</u> 527 N. W. 3d 343, (Wis. Ct. App. 1994), <u>rev denied</u> , 531 N.W. 2d 326 (Wis. 1005), <u>cert denied</u> ,U.S, 115 S. Ct. 1389 131 L. Ed. 2d 241 (1995)
<u>State v. Qisorio</u> , 657 So. 2d 4 (Fla 3rd DCA 1995)
<u>Strickland v. Washington,</u> 466 U.S. 668, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984)
<u>Taylor v. State,</u> 472 So. 2d 814 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1985)5

<u>Torres-Arboledo v. State</u> ,
524 So. 2d 403 (Fla. 1988)
<u>United States v. Camacho,</u>
40 F. 3d 349, (11th Cir. 1994),
<u>cert denied</u> , U.S. , 115 S. Ct. 1810,
L.Ed.2d (1995)
<u>United States v. Teague,</u>
953 F. 2d 1525 (11th Cir.)(en banc),
<u>cert denied</u> ,U.S, 113 S. Ct. 127,
121 L. Ed. 2d 82 (1992) 2-3,24,26-27
White v. Singletary,
972 F. 2d 1218 (11th cir. 1992) 29
OTHER AUTHORITY:
Rule 3.850, Fla. R. Crim. P



### INTRODUCTION

Respondent the **STATE OF FLORIDA**, was the prosecution in the trial court below, and the Appellant in the Third District Court of Appeal. The Petitioner **ROBERTO OISORIO**, was the defendant in the trial court below, and the Appellee in the Third District Court of Appeal. All parties will be referred to as they stood in the trial court. The symbol "R" will be used to designate the record on appeal. The symbol "T" will be used to designate the transcript of the trial court proceedings on the Rule 3.850 motion. All emphasis is supplied unless otherwise indicated.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State of Florida appealed from a lower court order granting Petitioner's Motions for Post Conviction Relief under Rule 3.850, Fla. R. Crim. P., based upon a finding of ineffective assistance of trial counsel. The Third District Court of Appeal reversed the lower court's order in a per curiam opinion on April 26, 1995, holding that "the record demonstrates, as a matter of law, that Oisorio did not satisfy the second, or "prejudice", prong of Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 669, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 2055-56, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674, 682 (1984), that but for 'counsel' [alleged] unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." The court held that the evidence adduced against Petitioner at trial was "so overwhelming, and the now asserted defensive materials so patently insubstantial that no rational jury could do anything but convict him", and ordered that Petitioner's conviction and sentence be reinstated. (R. 356-357). The court further noted in a footnote that while not directly considering the issue, it was unlikely that Petitioner satisfied the "performance" prong of Strickland as well. State v. Oisorio, 657 So. 2d 4 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1995).

Petitioner then moved for certification to this Court based on a perceived direct conflict with <u>Gill v. State</u>, 632 So. 2d 660 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1994). The Third District, in a per curiam opinion, acknowledged said conflict, but denied the motion for certification. (R. 358-360). The Third District concluded in the four corners of the opinion that the <u>Gill court "misapprehended the holding of United States v. Teaque</u>, 953 F. 2d 1525 (11th Cir.)(en banc), <u>cert denied</u>, <u>U.S.</u>, 113 S. Ct. 127, 121 L.

Ed. 2d 82 (1992), which <u>Gill</u> purports to follow", and that, contrary to <u>Gill</u>, both prongs of the <u>Strickland</u> test must be satisfied in order to obtain post conviction relief for alleged ineffective assistance of counsel. The Third District concluded that further review of this question should be left entirely up to the discretion of this Court in declining to certify direct conflict. (R. 358-360). This Court then accepted jurisdiction of this cause, after review of both parties jurisdictional briefs.

### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On January 2, 1990, defendant and co-defendants Francisco and Luis Quintana, and Guillermo Diaz, were charged by information with trafficking in over 400 grams of cocaine. (R. 1-4). On July 13, 1990, a jury found all four defendants guilty as charged. (R. 30-31). Defendant was sentenced to a minimum mandatory 15 year prison sentence. (R. 6, 39). Defendant's Motion for New Trial was denied by the court, (R. 36-37A), whereupon he appealed his judgment and sentence to the Third District Court of Appeal, alleging that the evidence was legally insufficient to prove the defendant guilty of constructive possession of cocaine. (See Appendix A-D, attached hereto. <sup>1</sup>). On September 3, 1991, this Court affirmed defendant's judgment and sentence in a per curiam opinion. (Appendix C-D <sup>2</sup>).

On May 4, 1992, defendant filed a Motion for Post Conviction Relief pursuant to Rule 3.850, Fla.R.Cr.P. (R. 39-44), alleging that he was denied ineffective assistance of trial counsel because trial counsel refused to allow defendant to testify

<sup>2</sup>Oisorio v. State, 585 So. 2d 942 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1991).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>Copies of the briefs of both Appellant and Appellee, as well as the Third District's opinion and mandate, filed in defendant's direct appeal from his judgment and sentence to this court, at appellate case number 90-1986, are attached to Respondent's brief to the Third District in case number 94-595 and are referred to as Appendicies A-D. These briefs should be included in the Record on Appeal in this cause, and Respondent will be glad to produce same upon the court's request. References to the evidence adduced at defendant's initial trial herein will be derived, to the extent possible, from these appellate briefs, and will direct the court to the appropriate page number of either Appendix A or B. References to the trial transcript itself will be designated by the symbol "ST", and Respondent filed one copy of the initial trial transcript in case number 90-1986, in the Third District below. (R. 326).

at his trial, and that trial counsel should not have allowed his co-defendants' confessions, allegedly implicating defendant, to be admitted into evidence without objection or limiting instruction at trial. (R. 42-43). On June 29, 1992, defendant filed an amended Motion for Post Conviction Relief, (R. 50-51), alleging defendant was denied his fundamental right to testify at his trial under both the Florida and United States Constitutions. On September 16, 1992, defendant filed a second amended Motion for Post Conviction Relief, (R. 57-58), alleging that trial counsel was ineffective for failing to move to sever defendant's trial from that of his co-defendants based on an allegedly exculpatory signed statement of one of his co-defendants, and further alleging ineffective assistance of appellate counsel.<sup>3</sup>

On December 3, 1992, a hearing on defendant's Motions for Post Conviction Relief was held before Judge Thomas Wilson, (T. 31-46), at which time counsel for defendant requested that an evidentiary hearing on defendant's allegations of ineffective assistance of counsel be held. (T. 31). After lengthy argument by both the defense and the State, the lower court took the matter under advisement, (T. 46), and on December 9, 1994, granting defendant's request for an evidentiary hearing based on defendant's allegations that he was denied his right to testify and that trial counsel should have utilized co-defendant Diaz's purportedly exculpatory affidavit under <u>Taylor</u> v. State, 472 So.2d 814 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1985). (T. 50-59).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>Defendant's claim of ineffective assistance of appellate counsel was subsequently withdraw below pursuant to the State's Motion to Dismiss Defendant's Motion for Post Conviction Relief. (R. 59, T. 23-24, 57).

On February 12, 1993, the evidentiary hearing commenced, and the defendant testified as the sole witness on his own behalf. (T. 81-212). He testified that he had no prior criminal record, that he had used Glass as a divorce attorney, and that his parents paid him \$15,000, in installments, to handle the trafficking case. (T. 83-85). Defendant stated that he told Glass that he was innocent of the charges, and pushed him to go to trial. (T. 87). Upon defendant's request, Glass allegedly prepared three affidavits, one for each co-defendant, gave them to the defendant, and told him to speak to each co-defendant and have them each sign an affidavit swearing to defendant's innocence, and return the signed affidavits to Glass. (T. 88). Glass allegedly didn't want any of the co-defendant's attorneys to know about these affidavits. (T. 88-89).

The defendant took one of the affidavits to co-defendant Diaz at the stockade, who signed the affidavit after having it explained/translated to him by one of the security personnel there. (T. 91-92, R. 204-206). It is undisputed that the affidavit signed by Diaz was neither dated nor notarized. (R. 204, T. 40-46). The defendant gave the affidavit to Glass, and his impression was that Glass was going to give it to the court. (T. 93). Neither the defendant nor Diaz ever told Glass that the affidavit was untrue. (T. 93).

The defendant also testified that he was offered a plea to conspiracy to traffick in cocaine, and a three year minimum mandatory sentence, in exchange for his testimony against his co-defendants, and that defendant rejected the offer because he was not guilty. (T. 94). He insisted that he never told Glass that he was guilty of the charges, or that he knew that drugs were involved. (T. 95). Glass never talked to the defendant about pleading guilty, thought that the state had a very weak case on the defendant, and believed that he could obtain an acquittal for the defendant. (T. 97-98). The defendant's father also hired Glass to handle defendant's appeal to this Court. (T. 97).

During the joint trial of all four co-defendants, Detective Fernandez testified that the defendant had made an oral confession, admitting his knowing participation in what was thought by the defendants to be a drug "rip-off", to him. (T.  $98-99^4$ ). During this testimony, defendant knew the detective to be lying, and told Glass that he wanted to testify to set the record straight. (T. 99). When the state rested, the court offered the defense a short recess to discuss whether any of the defendants were going to testify. (T. 33-36, 99). Defendant and his parents then accompanied Glass into the hallway, where, according to the defendant, he again told Glass he wanted to testify, and Glass adamantly refused to let him do so, stating that he could deal with Fernandez's testimony in closing arguments. (T. 100-107). Defendant stated that Glass refused to discuss the issue further and told defendant, while poking his finger into defendant's chest, that if he wanted to testify, Glass would immediately resign from the case. (T. 104-107). Defendant's parents, who spoke little or no English, allegedly witnessed this heated discussion, and after its conclusion, defendant translated it to them in Spanish. (T. 101-103). Upon returning to the courtroom, all

<sup>4</sup>See Appendix A and B for an account of the facts on the case elicited at trial.

of the defendant's declined to testify, and rested. (T. 107). All four were subsequently found guilty by the jury, (T. 109), and Glass was retained by defendant's parents to handle his appeal, for an additional fee. (T. 110).

On cross-examination by the State, the defendant stated that Glass told him that he would handle Fernandez's testimony on cross-examination, and wouldn't let the defendant testify. (T. 115, 155, 159). Glass wouldn't give defendant a reason for not letting him testify other than that his "strategy" was to cross-examine Fernandez. (T. 116-117). Defendant stated that he assumed this was Glass' "trial tactic". (T. 118). He stated that he wasn't aware of whether he was or was not "allowed" to testify, that he wanted to testify, and that Glass told him that if he did so, he'd "walk away from the case." (T. 118, 123). He reiterated that he didn't know that a crime was going to take place when he drove to the warehouse. (T. 127).

The defendant was then questioned at length about the trial, his version of the events leading up to his arrest, and his relationship with his co-defendants. (T. 127-210)<sup>5</sup> He stated that he went to the warehouse because co-defendant Francisco Quintana asked him to give the co-defendants a ride to meet an unknown person there. (T. 141, 149-150). He had met co-defendants Diaz, and Luis and Francisco Quintana in a bar 9-10 months before the crime, and saw these men 4-5 times a month thereafter. (T. 143). He was not aware of the fact that Diaz was an escapee from a Georgia prison. (T. 142). A week before the arrest, he had rented a car

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Compare the Statement of the Facts as set forth in Appendix A and B.

because his company car had not arrived.<sup>6</sup> (T. 144). When the car arrived two days later, Luis Quintana asked defendant to borrow the rental car, a Ford LTD, for the rest of the week, as it had already been paid for. (T. 144-145). He agreed to let Quintana use the car, and Quintana never told him about any drug deal. (T. 145). On the night of the arrest, defendant drove the Mitsubishi to Quintana's house to pick up the Ford, asking Quintana to meet him at the rental agency so he could return the Ford, whereupon Quintana's brother Francisco said he had to meet someone at the warehouse, and asked for a ride. (T. 146, 149-150). Luis Quintana drove the Mitsubishi to the warehouse, while defendant, driving the Ford, took Francisco and Diaz to the warehouse.<sup>7</sup> (T. 145-147). Defendant got out of the car, and "they" told him to get back into the car and wait. (T. 139-141, 148). He was out of the car only briefly, and never left the drivers side door, nor went to the trunk of the car. (T. 139-141). Defendant never asked the others why they went into the warehouse or why he was to wait in the car. (T. 148). The co-defendants went into the warehouse, then returned and asked defendant to open the trunk of the Ford, so he pushed the button in the glove box to do so. (T. 149). Again, he didn't know, nor ask why he needed to pop the trunk, (T. 150), and never looked into the trunk of the car. (T. 133-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>The defendant testified that he was a representative for Mitsubishi Motors at the time he rented the Ford LTD in his own name at Miami International Airport. (T. 205-206).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>At some point, either at the warehouse or immediately before arriving there, Luis Quintana exited the Mitsubishi and got into the Ford with the others. (T. 146-147).

134, 139-141).

The Defendant was shown several photographs of the rental car that had been admitted into evidence at his trial,<sup>8</sup> and he testified that he did not see the weapons, which were shown to be both in the front seat and the trunk, before in his life, although he recalled seeing weapons at trial. (T. 127-141). He didn't recognize the photo of the car or the flashlight or handgun depicted to be in the middle of the front seat between the driver and passenger sides, (T. 130-132), and testified that neither the flashlight nor handgun were in the car the night of his arrest. (T. 128-133, 194, 198-199). Defendant likewise didn't recognize the photo of the trunk of the car or the clothing or weapons contained therein, reiterating that he never was at the trunk, nor looked in the trunk that night. (T. 133-141). He conceded that if the handgun was in the front seat as depicted in the photo, he would have seen it as the driver of the car. (T. 132).

When confronted with a quotation from the trial testimony of one of the surveillance detectives involved in defendant's arrest to the effect that all four of the defendants exited the car, went to the trunk, and the defendant opened the trunk, (T. 170-171)<sup>9</sup>, the defendant again stated that he did not recall this testimony, nor went to the trunk of the car. (T. 172-173). The state then repeatedly played a surveillance videotape recorded by detectives involved in defendant's arrest and admitted into

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>The entire trial record and transcripts were provided to the trial court below. <sup>9</sup>Quoting from the trial transcript at page 326.

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